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On November 2, 2021, Administrative Law Judge 
Robert A. Giannasi issued a decision in the above-
captioned cases finding that the Respondent did not vio-
late Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the National Labor Rela-
tions Act by suspending and issuing disciplinary warn-
ings to employees Mike Abbott and Robert Tremper for 
their conduct during a February 3, 2021 meeting with 
management to discuss a departure from past practice 
and a safety concern that constituted a potential contract 
violation.*  The judge additionally found that the Re-
spondent did not violate Section 8(a)(3), (4), and (1) of 
the Act by issuing disciplinary warnings to Tremper and 
employee Mario Pruccoli on March 8, 2021, because of 
their union and other protected activity, including filing 
grievances and an unfair labor practice charge over the 
Respondent’s earlier discipline of Abbott and Tremper.  
The judge therefore recommended that the consolidated 
complaint and compliance specification be dismissed in 
its entirety.  The General Counsel filed exceptions and a 
supporting brief, the Respondent filed an answering 
brief, and the General Counsel filed a reply brief.

While the exceptions to the judge’s decision were 
pending, the National Labor Relations Board issued Lion 
Elastomers LLC,1 in which it overruled General Motors 
LLC,2 and reinstated the prior setting-specific standards, 
including the four-factor test set forth in Atlantic Steel,3

for determining whether an employee lost the Act’s pro-
tection by engaging in misconduct in the course of Sec-

1 372 NLRB No. 83 (2023).
2 369 NLRB No. 127 (2020).  In General Motors, the Board held 

that it would no longer apply the prior setting-specific standards to 
determine whether employers have unlawfully disciplined or dis-
charged employees who allegedly engaged in “abusive conduct” in 
connection with activity protected by Sec. 7 of the Act.  Accordingly, 
the General Motors Board overruled: (1) the four-factor test governing 
employees’ conduct towards management in the workplace set forth in 
Atlantic Steel Co., 245 NLRB 814, 816 (1979); (2) the totality-of-the-
circumstances test governing social-media posts and most conversa-
tions among employees in the workplace set forth in Pier Sixty, LLC,
362 NLRB 505, 506 (2015), enfd. 855 F.3d 115 (2d Cir. 2017), and 
Desert Springs Hospital Medical Center, 363 NLRB 1824, 1824 fn. 3 
(2016); and (3) the test governing picket-line conduct set forth in Clear 
Pine Mouldings, 268 NLRB 1044, 1046 (1984), enfd. mem. 765 F.2d 
148 (9th Cir. 1985), cert denied 474 U.S. 1105 (1986).

3 245 NLRB at 816.

tion 7 activity, and decided to apply its holding retroac-
tively to all pending cases.  On August 25, 2023, the 
Board issued a Decision, Order, and Notice to Show 
Cause in this proceeding, reversing in part the judge’s 
decision and finding that the Respondent violated Sec-
tion 8(a)(3) and (1) by issuing disciplinary warnings to 
Tremper and Pruccoli on March 8, 2021.4  The Board 
also gave notice to the parties to show cause why the 
remaining allegations, concerning the Respondent’s al-
leged unlawful suspension and issuance of disciplinary 
warnings to Abbott and Tremper for their conduct during 
the February 3, 2021 meeting, should not be remanded to 
the judge for further proceedings in light of the Board’s 
decision in Lion Elastomers.  The General Counsel and 
the Respondent each filed a response to the Notice to 
Show Cause.  Both parties opposed remanding the re-
maining allegations to the judge.  On December 22, 
2023, the Board issued a Notice and Invitation to Parties 
to File Briefs, finding that a remand is unnecessary as the 
remaining allegations may be decided based on the exist-
ing record, and inviting the parties to submit briefs ad-
dressing whether, and, if so, how, Lion Elastomers
should affect the Board’s decision on whether the Re-
spondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by issuing dis-
ciplinary notices to and suspending Abbott and Tremper 
for their conduct during the February 3, 2021, meeting.  
The General Counsel and the Respondent filed respon-
sive briefs.

The Board has delegated its authority in this proceed-
ing to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the decision and the record 
in light of the exceptions and briefs and has decided to 
affirm the judge’s rulings, findings, and conclusions only 
to the extent consistent with this Decision and Order.  
For the reasons discussed below, we find that the allega-
tions involving the Respondent’s discipline of Abbott 
and Tremper for their conduct during the February 3, 
2021, meeting are governed by the loss-of-protection 
standard set forth in Atlantic Steel, which the Board rein-
stated in Lion Elastomers.  Applying the Atlantic Steel
standard, we find that Abbott and Tremper retained the 
protection of the Act.  Accordingly, we find, contrary to 
the judge, that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) 
and (1) of the Act by disciplining them.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Respondent manufactures adhesive tape and other 
packaging products.  Local 1149, International Union, 
United Automotive, Aerospace and Agricultural Workers 
of America, AFL–CIO (the Union) represents a bargain-
ing unit of production and maintenance employees at the
Respondent’s Marysville, Michigan facility.  The Re-
spondent and the Union were parties to a collective-
bargaining agreement, effective from May 3, 2018 to 

4 Intertape Polymer Corp., 372 NLRB No. 133 (2023), enfd. 2024 
WL 2764160 (6th Cir. May 9, 2024).
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May 2, 2021.  At the time of the events in this case, Ab-
bott was employed by the Respondent as a maintenance 
electrician.  Tremper and Pruccoli were both production 
employees.  Tremper was a union steward, and Pruccoli 
was a union committeeman.

On February 3, 2021, a machine known as the Banbury 
caught fire.5  Abbott extinguished the fire and locked out 
the Banbury.6  After being informed of the fire, Mainte-
nance Manager Jon Zuzga arrived at the facility approx-
imately 2 hours earlier than his usual start time.  After 
inspecting the Banbury, Zuzga asked Abbott to show him 
what he had done to put out the fire.  As they were walk-
ing toward the Banbury, Abbott asked Zuzga to get a 
safety lock.7  Zuzga responded that he did not need a 
lock, because he was not going to touch the equipment.8  
Abbott insisted that the Banbury needed to be locked out, 
and he asked for a union representative.  Union steward 
Robert Tremper joined Zuzga and Abbott.  Zuzga testi-
fied that he assumed Abbott requested union representa-
tion because Abbott believed that by not locking out the 
Banbury, Zuzga was creating an unsafe situation, which 
is a violation of the collective-bargaining agreement.9  

5 All dates are in 2021, unless otherwise indicated.
6 Locking out is a safety practice of putting a lock on a machine to 

prevent an unexpected startup or release of energy during service and 
maintenance.  The Respondent supplies each employee with four pad-
locks for that purpose.  The padlocks have the employee’s name on 
them, and only the employee has keys.  The Respondent also has de-
partment locks which are not assigned to any employee.

7 Abbott’s shift was scheduled to end in approximately 1 hour, he 
anticipated that the Banbury would remain down at the end of his shift, 
and he was scheduled to be off work for the next 3 days.  It is undisput-
ed that the previous maintenance manager, Mark St. Pierre, whom 
Zuzga had replaced 4 or 5 months earlier, would replace an employee’s 
lock with his own or a department lock if a machine remained down at 
the end of the employee’s shift.  Otherwise, the Respondent would have 
to either ask the employee to return to the facility or cut the employee’s 
lock off the machine when it was ready to be placed back in service.

8 It is unclear whether Zuzga was initially aware that Abbott had al-
ready placed his own lock on the machine.  Zuzga repeatedly stated on 
February 3 that company policy did not require putting a safety lock on 
the Banbury because no one was going to be touching it.

9 Specifically, Zuzga testified: “[T]he contract . . . says . . . that 
management can’t put people in an unsafe situation and I assumed that 
that’s what Mike was getting at with the lockout/tagout.”

Sec. 18.1 of the parties’ 2018 to 2021 collective-bargaining agree-
ment, titled “Health & Safety,” provided, in relevant part:

The Company agrees to maintain safe, sanitary and healthful work-
ing conditions, to equip hazardous machinery with effective safety 
devices, . . . and to furnish without cost to employees such protective 
equipment as may be reasonably needed by the employees for the 
safe and healthful performance of their jobs. 

. . . . 
[The Company] maintains that safety is a core value. . . . The em-
ployees, in the performance of their jobs, shall:

1)  Utilize all safeguards and protective equipment provided.
2)  Understand and carefully follow safety rules and safety regula-

tions.
. . .
4)  Seek always for the safe way of working on each job or activi-

ty. 

When Tremper arrived, Zuzga stated that after they 
were done meeting and “identify there’s no use for a 
lock,” Abbott would have to explain “why he pulled so 
many resources away from the company for something 
that was unnecessary.”10  Abbott responded that Zuzga 
would have known what was going on if he had come to 
the facility earlier, and he noted that the fire had occurred 
several hours before Zuzga arrived.  Zuzga replied, “You 
don’t get to tell me when I work, when I come in.”

Zuzga then moved the conversation to his office, away 
from the noise of the production floor.  When Zuzga 
suggested that everyone sit down, Tremper responded, 
“I’m not here for some sit-down party” and remained 
standing.  Zuzga then asked why Abbott thought he
needed a lock for the Banbury.  Abbott explained that the 
previous maintenance manager, Mark St. Pierre—whom 
Zuzga had replaced approximately 4 or 5 months earli-
er—would replace an employee’s lock with his own lock 
or a department lock on equipment that remained down 
at the end of a shift.  Zuzga responded that St. Pierre was 
no longer in charge, the past practice was not company 
policy, and company policy did not require locking out 
the Banbury unless someone was planning on “entering 
the machine in a way that’s going to be dangerous.”

Zuzga then ordered Tremper to go back to work and 
Abbott to go with him to inspect the Banbury, warning 
that there would be “repercussions” if they failed to 
comply.  Tremper responded that he could not go back to 
work because Zuzga had just threatened Abbott with 
discipline.  Zuzga denied that he mentioned discipline, 
but Tremper disagreed.  Zuzga then informed Abbott that 
he was suspended “because I can’t work with you right 
now,” after which he turned to Tremper and said he was 
not going to “allow the Union to bully management.”11

Abbott left Zuzga’s office immediately, but Tremper 
remained and attempted to ask questions about Abbott’s 
suspension, such as why Abbott was suspended and for 
how long.12  Zuzga only responded that Abbott was in-

5) Watch out for the safety of your fellow employees.
10 In his contemporaneous written account of the February 3 meet-

ing, Zuzga stated that he told Abbott and Tremper “when this is done 
Mike [Abbott] will have to explain . . . why we wasted so much com-
pany time.”  Asked at the hearing to explain what he thought was un-
necessary or a waste of time, Zuzga testified:

[H]is whole premise behind wanting a union rep was because he was 
saying that me not bringing a lock is creating an unsafe situation and 
that warranted him getting a union rep.  My point . . . was when 
we’re done looking at the situation and we identify there’s no use for 
a lock, that I wanted Mike to explain what the reason behind all of 
this was.

11 In his contemporaneous written account of the February 3 meet-
ing, Zuzga stated that he said “Mike [Abbott] you are suspended go 
home and I told Bobby [Tremper] I was not going to allow the union to 
bully management.”

12 In describing the February 3 meeting, the judge did not mention 
Tremper’s testimony that he attempted to ask Zuzga questions about 
Abbott’s suspension.  However, Tremper’s testimony on this point is 
uncontroverted.
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subordinate.  Tremper attempted to ask what Abbott did 
that was insubordinate, but Zuzga refused to answer any 
more questions and directed Tremper to leave his office.  
Tremper protested that they were not done talking.  
Zuzga repeated that the meeting was over and again di-
rected Tremper to leave.

Zuzga testified that instead of leaving, Tremper stood 
in the doorway and asked in an aggressive tone, “Are we 
men here?  Are we men here?  We can’t talk?  We’re 
men.  We’re men, right?  Are you a man?”13  Tremper 
finally left Zuzga’s office after Zuzga stated he was giv-
ing Tremper a “direct order.”  In all, Zuzga told Tremper 
to leave his office at least four times before he complied.  

At the hearing, Tremper was asked to explain why he 
refused to leave Zuzga’s office until Zuzga gave him a 
“direct order.”  Tremper testified that “as an employee” 
he would have left Zuzga’s office immediately.  Howev-
er, he was there in his capacity as a union steward repre-
senting Abbott, and he was “trying to balance [his] job 
along with representing a union member.”  Tremper tes-
tified further that he believed he and Zuzga were equals 
when dealing with each other in their respective roles as 
representatives of the Union and the Respondent, and 
therefore Zuzga could not cut off his investigation of 
Abbott’s suspension by unilaterally ending the meeting.

On February 16 or 17, the Respondent issued Abbott a 
written “verbal warning.”  Abbott’s warning states, in 
relevant part:

We started to walk [toward the machine], and you 
stopped and told me I needed a safety lock.  I told you 
that I did not because I would not be touching or going 
in the equipment.  You said I did need to lock it out and 
asked for your Union Rep.  As we were walking you 
stated to me, “If you would have come in earlier you 
would know what is going on.” And I replied that isn’t 
how this works and you don’t get to tell me when I 
should be here and you said “Well, you should have 
been.”  

This is a violation of company work rule #21: Indirect 
Insubordination: challenge and abuse of directions giv-
en by supervision or management.  Future violations 
will lead to further disciplinary action, up to and includ-
ing termination.

Also on February 16 or 17, the Respondent issued 
Tremper a “Final Warning Disciplinary Action” and sus-
pended him for 5 days.  Tremper’s warning states, in 
relevant part:

During a meeting . . . on February 3, 2021, you were 
directed by Jon [Zuzga] to leave his office and return to 
your work area due to your unacceptable behavior.  
You were insubordinate and refused to leave Jon’s of-

13 Tremper testified, in contrast, that Zuzga was yelling and to re-
store calm, he (Tremper) said, “We are men here.  We can discuss it.  
We don’t need to be yelling.”

fice stating you were not going to leave his office and 
he can’t kick you out and challenging him as to wheth-
er he was giving you a direct order or not.  He had to 
give you multiple directives to leave before you com-
plied.  In addition, you interfered with a manager’s in-
vestigation and ability to understand work that had 
been performed on a critical piece of equipment.  You 
were disruptive, verbally combative and impeding the 
discussion regarding the work the employee had done.

The warning also states that Tremper will be terminat-
ed if, anytime in the next 3 years, he “interfer[es] with 
other employees’ ability to work and conduct business” 
or “behav[es] in a threatening or intimidating manner.”

II. JUDGE’S DECISION

Consistent with the Board’s decision in General Mo-
tors,14 the judge applied the Wright Line15 burden-
shifting framework to determine whether the Respondent 
violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act by disciplin-
ing Abbott and Tremper.  The judge found that Abbott 
and Tremper were engaged in protected activity when 
they met with Zuzga on February 3.16  However, he 
found no evidence of animus against protected activity 
on the part of Zuzga or any other management official.17  
The judge therefore found that the General Counsel 
failed to sustain her burden under Wright Line of proving 
that animus toward union or other protected activity was 
a motivating factor in the Respondent’s decisions to sus-
pend Abbott and Tremper.  He also found that even as-
suming the General Counsel met her burden under 
Wright Line, the Respondent met its defense burden of 
establishing that it would have disciplined Tremper even 
in the absence of his protected conduct for refusing to go 
back to work after Zuzga legitimately ended the meeting 
and for disparaging Zuzga by asking whether he was a 
man.18  

14 369 NLRB No. 127.
15 251 NLRB 1083 (1980), enfd. 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. 

denied 455 U.S. 989 (1982), approved in NLRB v. Transportation
Mgmt. Corp., 462 U.S. 393 (1983).

16 The judge noted that, under the General Counsel’s theory of the 
case, the Respondent suspended and issued disciplinary warnings to 
Abbott and Tremper because they attempted to enforce the safety pro-
visions of the contract and bring a safety-related concern to the atten-
tion of Zuzga under the contractual grievance procedure.  The judge 
noted that there is no evidence Tremper and Abbott explicitly asked for 
a grievance meeting or explicitly raised a contractual grievance.  The 
judge nevertheless found that “Tremper and Abbott were engaged in 
protected activity of some kind when they met with Zuzga on February 
3.”

17 The judge did not address the General Counsel’s argument that 
Zuzga evinced union animus when he commented that Abbott would 
have to explain “why he pulled so many resources away from the com-
pany” after Abbott requested union representation, and when he com-
mented that he was not going to allow the Union to bully management 
immediately after suspending Abbott.

18 The judge rejected the General Counsel’s contention that the 
proper question to ask regarding Tremper is whether he lost the protec-
tion of the Act by his improper conduct.  The judge observed that, in 
General Motors, 369 NLRB No. 127, the Board overruled the prior 
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Additionally, the judge found that even if Abbott’s 
suspension was “technically unlawful,” it is unnecessary 
to find a violation or to provide a remedy because the 
suspension was short, lasting only for the remainder of 
Abbott’s shift; Abbott did not suffer any loss of pay; and 
he is no longer employed by the Respondent.  The judge 
therefore found that any violation stemming from Ab-
bott’s suspension has been substantially remedied or ren-
dered moot.19  Accordingly, the judge dismissed the alle-
gations involving both Tremper and Abbott.

III. POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

As discussed above, while the exceptions to the 
judge’s decision were pending, the Board issued Lion 
Elastomers,20 in which it overruled General Motors,21

and reinstated the prior setting-specific standards, includ-
ing the four-factor test set forth in Atlantic Steel,22 for 
determining whether an employee lost the Act’s protec-
tion by engaging in misconduct in the course of Section 7 
activity and decided to apply its holding retroactively to 
all pending cases.  On December 22, 2023, the Board 
issued a Notice and Invitation to Parties to File Briefs, 
inviting the parties to submit briefs addressing whether, 
and, if so, how, Lion Elastomers should affect the 
Board’s decision on whether the Respondent violated 
Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by issuing disciplinary notices to 
and suspending Abbott and Tremper for their conduct 
during the February 3 meeting.  The General Counsel
and the Respondent filed responsive briefs.

The General Counsel contends, without explanation,
that the allegations involving Abbott continue to be gov-
erned by Wright Line, and not by any of the loss-of-
protection standards that were reinstated in Lion Elasto-
mers.  The General Counsel additionally contends that 
the judge erred in failing to find, under the Wright Line
framework, that the Respondent unlawfully disciplined
Abbott because of his and Tremper’s protected activity.

setting-specific standards for determining whether an employee has lost 
the Act’s protection by engaging in misconduct in the course of Sec. 7
activity and substituted the Wright Line framework for those standards.  
The judge additionally found that applying a loss-of-protection stand-
ard, such as that set forth in Atlantic Steel, 245 NLRB at 816, would not 
change the result.  Thus, the judge found that even assuming, in ac-
cordance with the General Counsel’s theory of the case, that Tremper 
and Abbott were engaged in protected activity in bringing a safety-
related grievance to the attention of management during the February 3 
meeting, the meeting ended when Zuzga denied the grievance, and 
Tremper was therefore not involved in protected activity when he en-
gaged in the misconduct for which he was disciplined.  The judge addi-
tionally found that even if Tremper’s pursuit of the grievance remained 
protected after Zuzga legitimately ended the meeting, Tremper forfeited 
the protection of the Act by refusing to leave Zuzga’s office until given 
a direct order and asking whether Zuzga was a man while standing in 
front of the door.

19 The judge did not specifically rule on the complaint allegation 
that the Respondent violated the Act by issuing Abbott a disciplinary 
warning.  The General Counsel has excepted to the omission.

20 372 NLRB No. 83.
21 369 NLRB No. 127.
22 245 NLRB at 816.

The General Counsel contends that Tremper’s disci-
pline should be analyzed under the standard set forth in 
Atlantic Steel,23 which was reinstated in Lion Elasto-

mers.24  The General Counsel further contends that, pur-
suant to the Atlantic Steel standard, the Board should find 
that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of 
the Act by suspending and issuing a disciplinary warning 
to Tremper because that action was taken based on 
Tremper’s protected union activity at the February 3 
meeting and nothing Tremper did in the course of that 
activity caused him to forfeit the protection of the Act.

The Respondent contends that the Board should adopt 
the judge’s finding that Abbott’s suspension was sub-
stantially remedied by the Respondent’s subsequent con-
duct of reimbursing Abbott for any loss of pay he suf-
fered.  With regard to Tremper, the Respondent contends 
that the Board should adopt the judge’s finding that his
discipline was lawful even under Atlantic Steel, because 
Tremper was not involved in protected activity when he 
engaged in the misconduct for which he was disciplined, 
and even assuming he was involved in protected activity, 
his misconduct was sufficient to forfeit the protection of 
the Act.

IV. DISCUSSION

A.  Atlantic Steel provides the appropriate framework for 
analyzing the allegations involving both Abbott and 

Tremper

We find that the four-factor Atlantic Steel test, which 
the Board reinstated in Lion Elastomers, provides the 
appropriate framework for analyzing the allegations in-
volving the Respondent’s discipline of both Abbott and 
Tremper.25  The Board has applied the Atlantic Steel fac-

23 Id.
24 372 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 2.
25 As noted above, the General Counsel contends that the allegations 

involving Abbott should be analyzed under Wright Line.  The Wright 
Line standard governs “dual motive” cases where the General Counsel 
alleges that discipline or discharge was motivated by the employer’s 
animus toward Sec. 7 activity, while the employer contends that it was 
motivated by a legitimate business reason.  Lion Elastomers, 371 
NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 1–2.  The Board has held, however, that the 
Wright Line standard is not appropriate when the employer defends a 
disciplinary action based on an employee’s alleged misconduct in the 
course of otherwise protected union or concerted activity.  Id., slip op. 
at 6 (citing Gross Electric Inc., 366 NLRB No. 81, slip op. at 2-3 
(2018) (“[W]here an employer undisputedly takes action against an 
employee for engaging in protected activity, a Wright Line analysis is 
not appropriate.”)).  In such circumstances motivation is not at issue, 
and the question is whether, in the course of otherwise protected activi-
ty, the employee engaged in conduct so opprobrious as to lose the pro-
tection of the Act.  Id. (citing Nor-Cal Beverage Co., 330 NLRB 610, 
611–612 (2000) (where an employer admits that it disciplined an em-
ployee for misconduct in the course of protected union activity, the 
only issue is whether the misconduct caused the employee to lose the 
protection of the Act; once that is decided in the negative, the causal 
connection between the discipline and the employee’s protected activity 
is established, and the inquiry ends)).  See also Stanford Hotel, 344 
NLRB 558, 558 (2005) (“When an employee is discharged for conduct 
that is part of the res gestae of protected concerted activities, the perti-
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tors to determine whether an employee’s direct commu-
nications, face-to-face in the workplace, with a manager 
or supervisor in course of otherwise protected activity 
constituted conduct so opprobrious that the employee 
lost the protection of the Act.26  As discussed in greater 
detail below, we find that Abbott and Tremper were en-
gaged in protected activity on February 3, when Abbott 
requested union representation and when he and Tremper 
subsequently met with management in the workplace to 
address a departure from past practice and a safety con-
cern that constituted a potential contract violation.  We 
also find that the conduct for which Abbott and Tremper 
were each disciplined was part of the res gestae of their 
protected activity.  Accordingly, we conclude that the 
allegations involving Abbott and Tremper are properly 
analyzed under Atlantic Steel and that the issue is wheth-
er, in the course of their protected activity, they 
“cross[ed] the line” separating protected from nonpro-
tected conduct.27

B.  Abbott did not lose the protection of the Act

Under Atlantic Steel, the Board “carefully balance[s]” 
four factors to determine whether an employee’s alleged 
misconduct in the course of otherwise protected activity 
is sufficiently egregious or opprobrious to cause the em-
ployee to lose the Act’s protection.28  The four factors 
are: (1) the place of the discussion; (2) the subject matter 
of the discussion; (3) the nature of the employee’s out-
burst; and (4) whether the outburst was, in any way, pro-
voked by an employer’s unfair labor practices.29  

Balancing the four factors articulated in Atlantic Steel, 
we find that Abbott did not lose the protection of the Act.  
The first factor, the place of the discussion, favors con-
tinued protection.  The discussion began on a loud shop 

nent question is whether the conduct is sufficiently egregious to remove 
it from the protection of the Act.”).

26 Triple Play Sports Bar & Grille, 361 NLRB 308, 311 (2014) (ex-
plaining that “the Board has applied the Atlantic Steel factors to analyze 
whether direct communications, face-to-face in the workplace, between 
an employee and a manager or supervisor constituted conduct so op-
probrious that the employee lost the protection of the Act”), affd. sub 
nom. Three D, LLC v. NLRB, 629 Fed. Appx. 33 (2d Cir. 2015); Atlan-
tic Steel, 245 NLRB at 816 (setting forth four-factor balancing test to 
determine whether “an employee who is engaged in concerted protect-
ed activity [has], by opprobrious conduct, los[t] the protection of the 
Act”).  See also Lion Elastomers, 372 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 1 (At-
lantic Steel test governs “employees’ conduct towards management in 
the workplace”); Felix Industries, 331 NLRB 144, 144 (2000) (holding 
that the Atlantic Steel test is applicable to determine whether an indi-
vidual employee lost the protection of the Act by engaging in miscon-
duct in the course of asserting a contractual right), enf. denied 251 F.3d 
1051 (D.C. Cir. 2001), on remand 339 NLRB 195 (2003).

27 245 NLRB at 816.
28 245 NLRB at 816.
29 Id.  This framework balances employees’ rights under Sec. 7 of 

the Act and the employer’s interests in maintaining order and discipline 
in the workplace.  Lion Elastomers, 372 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 11 & 
fn. 54; see also Piper Realty Co., 313 NLRB 1289, 1290 (1994) 
(“[E]mployees are permitted some leeway for impulsive behavior when 
engaging in concerted activity, [but] this leeway is balanced against an 
employer’s right to maintain order and respect.”).

floor and continued in Zuzga’s office.  There is no evi-
dence that it disrupted the work of any other employees 
or that any employee overheard the discussion, other 
than Tremper, who was acting as a union steward.30

The second factor, the subject matter of the discussion, 
weighs heavily in favor of continued protection.  Abbott 
requested the assistance of his union representative and 
then participated in a discussion with management to 
informally resolve a latent grievance over a departure 
from past practice and a safety concern that was a poten-
tial violation of the collective-bargaining agreement.31  
As the Board has recognized, such discussions are “espe-
cially important to the effectiveness of contractual griev-
ance-arbitration mechanisms” and are therefore protected 
as a critical aspect of collective bargaining under the Act, 
even when the technical procedures of the grievance-
arbitration mechanism are not followed.32

30 Postal Service, 364 NLRB 701, 703 (2016) (finding the place of 
the discussion weighed in favor of continued protection where griev-
ance meeting took place in a break room away from the work floor and 
was not overheard by any employees other than the participants in the 
discussion) (comparing Overnite Transportation Co., 343 NLRB 1431, 
1437 (2004) (location did not favor loss of protection where there was 
no evidence that any employees overheard work-floor outburst), with 
DaimlerChrysler Corp., 344 NLRB 1324, 1329 (2005) (location fa-
vored loss of protection where “quite a few” employees overheard 
work-floor outburst)).

31 The 2018 to 2021 collective-bargaining agreement included a 
grievance resolution procedure which provided, in relevant part: 

[A]n employee shall bring any question about his job with his super-
visor first.  If the question involves an alleged violation of this 
agreement, however, the employee may present the matter either to 
the immediate supervisor or to a union representative who will in 
turn present the matter to the supervisor.

32 Postal Service, 364 NLRB at 703 (quoting Postal Service, 360 
NLRB 677, 682 (2014)).  See also Postal Service, 251 NLRB 252, 258 
(1980) (recognizing that “‘the informal resolution of latent grievances 
is a recognized, and indeed, essential component of . . . [a] grievance 
procedure.  Without such informal resolutions, there is a risk of de-
stroying the effectiveness of that procedure by weighing it down with 
formalized grievances.’”) (quoting Ryder Truck Lines, Inc., 239 NLRB 
1009, 1011 (1978)), enfd. 652 F.2d 409 (5th Cir. 1981).

It is also well-settled that Sec. 7 protects an individual employee’s 
attempt to enforce the provisions of an existing collective-bargaining 
agreement irrespective of whether the asserted claims are ultimately 
found meritorious and regardless of whether the employee expressly 
refers to the applicable contract.  See NLRB v. City Disposal Systems, 
Inc., 465 U.S. 822, 840 (1984) (“[A]n honest and reasonable invocation 
of a collectively bargained right constitutes concerted activity, regard-
less of whether the employee turns out to have been correct in his belief 
that his right was violated . . . .  No one would suggest, for instance, 
that the filing of a grievance is concerted only if the grievance turns out 
to be meritorious.  As long as the grievance is based on an honest and 
reasonable belief that a right had been violated, its filing is a concerted 
activity because it is an integral part of the process by which the collec-
tive-bargaining agreement is enforced.”).  See also King Soopers, Inc., 
364 NLRB 1153, 1154-1155 (2016) (recognizing that an individual 
employee’s assertion of a right grounded in a collective-bargaining 
agreement constitutes protected, concerted activity “‘regardless of 
whether the employee turns out to have been correct in his belief that 
his right was violated’”) (citing Interboro Contractors, 157 NLRB 
1295 (1966), enfd. 388 F.2d 495 (2d Cir. 1967); NLRB v. City Disposal 
Systems, supra), enfd. in relevant part 859 F.3d 23, 34–35 (D.C. Cir. 
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The third factor, the nature of the outburst, also weighs 
heavily in favor of continued protection.  It is undisputed 
that Abbott did not engage in violent or threatening be-
havior or use abusive language.  Rather, Abbott’s alleged 
misconduct, described in his written warning, consisted 
of disagreeing with Zuzga’s assertion that he did not 
need to lock out the Banbury, “ask[ing] for [his] Union 
Rep,” and stating to Zuzga, “[i]f you would have come in 
earlier you would know what is going on.”  As discussed 
above, Abbott was clearly engaged in protected activity 
when he raised a departure from past practice and a safe-
ty issue that constituted a potential contract violation and 
“asked for [his] Union Rep.”  Accordingly, that conduct 
cannot serve as a lawful basis for his discipline.  Ab-
bott’s comment that Zuzga would have known what was 
going on “[i]f he would have come in earlier” was part of 
the res gestae of Abbott’s protected activity,33 and alt-
hough arguably disrespectful, it falls far short of the type 
of conduct the Board and courts have found to be suffi-
ciently opprobrious or extreme to remove an employee 
from the Act’s protection.34

Turning to Abbott’s suspension, both Zuzga’s contem-
poraneous written statement and his testimony suggest 
that Zuzga suspended Abbott because Tremper defied 
Zuzga’s order to return to work and continued to verbally 
debate the merits of the informal grievance even after 
Zuzga made his position clear that a lock was not need-
ed.35  As discussed in greater detail below, Tremper was 

2017); Omni Commercial Lighting, Inc., 364 NLRB 612, 614 (2016) 
(same); John Sexton & Co., 217 NLRB 80, 80 (1975) (“The Board has 
consistently held that Sec[.] 7 of the Act protects employees’ attempts . 
. . to implement the terms of bargaining agreements irrespective of 
whether the asserted contract claims are ultimately found meritorious 
and regardless of whether the employees expressly refer to applicable 
contracts in support of their actions or, indeed, are even aware of the 
existence of such agreements.”).

33 Abbott’s comment was a direct and immediate response to 
Zuzga’s statement that he wanted Abbott to explain “why he pulled so 
many resources away from the company for something that was unnec-
essary” by asking for union representation regarding a departure from 
past practice and a safety concern that constituted a potential contract 
violation.

34 See, e.g., Lion Elastomers, 372 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 11 (ob-
serving that the Act “imposes no obligation on employees to be ‘civil’ 
in exercising their statutory rights”), affirming 369 NLRB No. 88, slip 
op. at 1 fn. 3 & 18 (2020) (employee did not forfeit the protection of 
the Act by, among other things, speaking persistently and argumenta-
tively and telling a manager that he was not doing his job) (citing Con-
sumers Power Co., 282 NLRB 130, 132 (1986) (“The protections Sec[.] 
7 affords would be meaningless were we not to take into account the 
realities of industrial life and the fact that disputes over wages, hours, 
and working conditions are among the disputes most likely to engender 
ill feelings and strong responses.”)).  See also Goya Foods, Inc., 356 
NLRB 476, 478 (2011) (observing that “the Board distinguishes be-
tween true insubordination and behavior that is only ‘disrespectful, 
rude, and defiant’”) (quoting Severance Tool Industries, Inc., 301 
NLRB 1166, 1170 (1990), enfd. mem. 953 F.2d 1384 (6th Cir. 1992)).

35 In his contemporaneous written statement, Zuzga explained his 
decision to suspend Abbott as follows:

I said . . . [Tremper] will go back to work and [Abbott] and I will go 
out to the machine and he will explain what he did.  [Tremper] re-

engaged in protected activity when he briefly refused to 
return to work; therefore, Tremper’s activity cannot serve 
as a lawful basis for Abbott’s discipline.  Even assuming, 
moreover, that Abbott’s suspension was motivated by his 
own failure to return to work when ordered, the Board 
has repeatedly held that an employee does not forfeit the 
protection of the Act by briefly disobeying an order to 
return to work or to leave the area while engaged in pro-
tected activity.  The Board’s decision in Postal Service is 
particularly instructive in this regard.36  In Postal Ser-
vice, the Board, applying Atlantic Steel, held that two 
employees did not forfeit the protection of the Act by 
continuing to dispute verbally the merits of a grievance 
after their supervisor twice ordered the employees to go 
back to work.  In so finding, the Board rejected the Re-
spondent’s position that the protection of the Act ceased 
the moment the supervisor ended the meeting.  The 
Board explained that it is unrealistic to believe that the 
parties involved in a heated exchange “can check their 
emotions at the drop of a hat”; therefore, to hold that the 
Act’s protection ceases the moment an employer decides 
to end a grievance meeting “would enable an employer 
by its own whim to define the nature of protected activi-
ty.”37

fused to allow this to happen.  He said I threatened [Abbott] . . . .  I 
said no I didn’t I simply informed you both of the repercussions of 
your actions.  He [Tremper] still refused to go back to work or let 
[Abbott].  At this point I said enough is enough [Abbott] you are 
suspended go home and I told [Tremper] I was not going to allow 
the union to bully management.

Zuzga gave a similar description of the events leading to Abbott’s 
suspension at the hearing.  Thus, Zuzga testified that after Tremper 
initially refused to go back to work, he [Zuzga] said: 

[Tremper], this conversation is over.  I have to end it.  I have a lot of 
things I got to get to.  I said, you need to get back to work.  Mike 
Abbott, I said, you’re temporarily suspended until we can resolve 
this because I can’t work with you right now apparently . . . .

36 251 NLRB at 252.
37 Id.  Similarly, in Goya Foods, the Board held that an employee 

who was engaged in a heated discussion in the employee cafeteria 
concerning the union’s bargaining positions and tactics did not lose the 
protection of the Act by disobeying several orders to leave the cafeteria.  
356 NLRB at 478.  A supervisor twice told the employee to leave the 
cafeteria, to which the employee replied, “come and take me out.”  The 
supervisor then directed the employee to punch out and go home.  The 
employee initially refused but eventually got up and left.  The Board 
found that while the employee’s conduct was disrespectful, rude, and 
defiant, it did not rise to the level of insubordination that would forfeit 
the protection of the Act under Atlantic Steel.  Id.  See also Meyer Tool, 
Inc., 366 NLRB No. 32, slip op. at 1 fn. 2 (2018) (employee did not 
lose protection by disobeying several “direct orders” to leave human 
resources department after becoming argumentative and raising his 
voice while attempting to file a concerted complaint over terms and 
conditions of employment), enfd. 763 Fed. Appx. 5 (2d Cir. 2019); 
Mast Advertising & Publishing, 304 NLRB 819, 819–820, 827, 829 
(1991) (employee did not lose protection by twice refusing to leave 
human resources department while attending meeting as a witness for 
coworker).
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As for the fourth factor, there is no evidence that Ab-
bott’s conduct was provoked by unfair labor practices.  
Therefore, this factor does not favor protection.

In sum, we find that the first Atlantic Steel factor 
weighs at least moderately in favor of continued protec-
tion, the second and third factors weigh heavily in favor 
of continued protection, and the fourth factor weighs
against continued protection. We further find that the 
three factors favoring the retention of protection easily 
outweigh the fourth factor and that Abbott therefore re-
tained the Act’s protection.  Accordingly, we reverse the 
judge, and we find that the Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(3) and (1) by suspending Abbott and issuing him a 
disciplinary warning for his conduct on February 3.

We reject the judge’s determination that it is unneces-
sary to find a violation or to remedy Abbott’s suspension 
because he no longer works for the Respondent and the 
Respondent compensated him for the loss of pay he suf-
fered as a result of the suspension.  In Passavant Memo-
rial Area Hospital, the Board held that a party may re-
lieve itself of liability for unlawful conduct by repudia-
tion, but to be effective, the repudiation must be “time-
ly,” “unambiguous,” “specific in nature to the coercive 
conduct,” and “free from other proscribed illegal con-
duct.”38  Furthermore, there must be adequate publication 
of the repudiation to the employees involved, and the 
employer must not engage in any further proscribed con-
duct after the publication.39  Finally, the repudiation must 
include assurances that there will be no interference with 
employees’ Section 7 rights in the future.40  Applying 
these criteria, we find that the Respondent’s conduct was 
ineffective to relieve it of liability and obviate the need 
for further remedial action.  Although the Respondent 
reimbursed Abbott for his lost wages, it never acknowl-
edged that Abbott’s suspension was unlawful or provided 
assurances that its unlawful conduct would not be repeat-
ed.  Additionally, 2 weeks after suspending Abbott, the 
Respondent unlawfully issued him a disciplinary warn-
ing.41  On the same date, as discussed below, the Re-
spondent unlawfully disciplined Tremper.  Finally, as 
found in our original decision in this case, several weeks 
later, the Respondent unlawfully disciplined Tremper 
and union committeeman Pruccoli because of their pro-
tected union activity, including filing grievances over the 
Respondent’s earlier unlawful discipline of Abbott and 
Tremper.42  Accordingly, the Respondent did not satisfy 
the Passavant repudiation standard.

38 237 NLRB 138, 138–139 (1978).
39 Id. at 138.
40 Id. at 138–139.
41 The Respondent contends in its answering brief that it rescinded 

the suspension and reimbursed Abbott for his loss of pay but main-
tained the disciplinary warning.

42 Intertape Polymer Corp., 372 NLRB No. 133, slip op. at 13–15.

C. Tremper did not lose the protection of the Act

We find that all four Atlantic Steel factors weigh in fa-
vor of continued protection of Tremper’s conduct.  As 
for the place of the discussion, the argument between 
Zuzga and Tremper took place in Zuzga’s office, and 
there is no evidence that it disrupted the work of other 
employees or that it was overheard by any employee 
other than Abbott.  The place of the discussion therefore 
weighs heavily in favor of continued protection.43

The subject matter of the discussion also weighs heavi-
ly in favor of protection.  Tremper was initially repre-
senting Abbott in the presentation of an informal griev-
ance concerning a departure from past practice and a 
potential contract violation, clearly a protected subject.44  
The meeting then quickly turned into a protest of 
Zuzga’s threat to discipline Abbott and thereafter of Ab-
bott’s unlawful suspension, also protected subjects.45  We 
therefore find that the subject of the discussion remained 
protected throughout the meeting, even assuming, as 
found by the judge, that Zuzga’s rejection of Abbott’s 
position regarding the need for a lock constituted a denial 
of the informal grievance at Stage 1.

As for the third factor, the nature of the outburst, 
Tremper’s written warning states, in part, that he was 
“disruptive, verbally combative and imped[ed] the dis-
cussion regarding the work [Abbott] had done.”  Howev-
er, that conduct occurred while Tremper was acting in his 
official capacity as a union steward.  As the Board has
explained, the Act clearly protects such conduct by an 
employee-representative in the course of dealing with the 
employer on behalf of employees.46

43 See, e.g., Plaza Auto Center, Inc., 360 NLRB 972, 978 (2014) 
(observing that the location where an outburst occurs is very significant 
in balancing the employee’s right to engage in Sec. 7 activity against 
the employer’s right to maintain order and discipline, and that “an 
employer’s interest in maintaining order and discipline . . . is affected 
less by a private outburst in a manager’s office . . . than an outburst on 
the work floor witnessed by other employees”) (internal quotation 
marks and citations omitted).

44 Postal Service, 364 NLRB 701, 703 (2016) (applying Atlantic 
Steel to alleged steward misconduct and finding that second factor 
weighed heavily in favor of protection where the alleged misconduct 
occurred during discussion about a pending grievance) (citing Postal 
Service, 360 NLRB at 682 (observing that informal grievance discus-
sions are “especially important to the effectiveness of contractual 
grievance-arbitration mechanisms,” and therefore are protected as a 
critical aspect of collective bargaining under the Act)).

45 Overnite Transportation, 343 NLRB at 1437 (second Atlantic 
Steel factor favored protection where union steward was disciplined for 
outburst that occurred after supervisor refused to answer steward’s 
questions regarding why employer discharged 10 or 11 employees).  As 
discussed above, Tremper’s testimony that he was attempting to ask 
Zuzga why Abbott was suspended and for how long is uncontradicted.

46 “[F]or collective bargaining to succeed, it is essential that em-
ployee-union representatives ‘be treated on a plane of equality’ with 
their management counterparts and that, in spite of possible offense to 
the employer, they be permitted . . . to vigorously and robustly debate 
and challenge the statements of management representatives without 
fear of discipline or retaliation.”  Lion Elastomers, 372 NLRB No. 83, 
slip op. at 10 & fn. 52 (quoting N.P. Nelson Iron Works, Inc., 80 NLRB 
788, 795 (1948)).  See also Hawaiian Hauling Service, Ltd., 219 NLRB 
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The Respondent’s main contentions are that Tremper 
lost the protection of the Act because he (1) refused to 
leave Zuzga’s office and (2) threatened Zuzga by asking 
whether he was a man while standing in front of the 
door.  We reject both contentions.  As discussed, the 
Board has repeatedly held that an employee does not 
forfeit the protection of the Act by briefly disobeying an 
order to return to work or to leave the area while engaged 
in protected activity.47  Tremper’s asking “Are we men 
here? . . . We can’t talk? . . . Are you a man?”, cannot 
fairly be characterized as threatening or intimidating.  
Threatening statements may weigh against protection, 
but the Board uses an objective standard, rather than a 
subjective standard, to evaluate such statements.48 Ap-
plying an objective standard, we disagree with the 
judge’s finding that “Zuzga rightly felt challenged and 
threatened” by Tremper’s behavior. Tremper was not 
threatening Zuzga with physical harm or challenging him 
to a fight.  He was imploring Zuzga to continue the dis-
cussion of the informal grievance and Abbott’s suspen-
sion.  Although Tremper was standing,49 he did not make

765, 766 & fn. 6 (1975) (observing that allowing an employer to disci-
pline employee representatives for giving offense during a grievance 
meeting “would destroy that essential relationship” and “so heavily 
weigh the mechanism in the employer’s favor as to render it ineffective 
as an instrument to satisfactorily resolve grievances”), enfd. 545 F.2d 
674 (9th Cir. 1976), cert. denied 431 U.S. 965 (1977).

47 See cases cited above at fn. 37.  See also Postal Service, 360 
NLRB 677.  In Postal Service, a union steward requested time to file a 
grievance, and his supervisor asked for more information.  Id. at 681.  
The steward insisted he was not obligated to provide any more infor-
mation, and the supervisor then gave the steward a “direct order” to go 
back to his workstation.  The steward refused.  The supervisor repeated 
that she was giving him a direct order, and the steward again refused.  
The steward then pointed his finger at the supervisor and said he was 
not going to follow her order.  Only when the supervisor called the 
police did the steward leave.  Id.  The Board affirmed the judge’s con-
clusion that the nature of the steward’s outburst, including his defiant 
refusal to leave the area without filing the grievance, did not cause him 
to lose the protection of the Act.  Id. at 677 fn. 2.

Piper Realty Co., 313 NLRB 1289 (1994), cited by the judge in sup-
port of his finding that Tremper’s conduct caused him to forfeit the 
protection of the Act, is readily distinguishable.  Piper Realty, unlike 
the instant case, involved a profane outburst and ad hominem attack 
which was overheard by other employees and threatened to undermine 
the employer’s authority.  In Piper Realty, the Board held that an em-
ployee’s concerted protest of a change in work assignment lost protec-
tion when the employee ignored repeated orders to leave a manager’s 
office; told the manager “in a loud and belligerent voice” that “he did 
not treat the men like men, but like animals,” the manager “was ‘fuck-
ing with his job,’” “a lot of employees thought [the manager] was ‘a 
fucking asshole,’” and “nobody had the ‘balls’ to tell him”; and the 
employee’s outburst was overheard by two other employees, who were 
“clearly shocked” by his conduct.  Id. at 1289–1290.  In this case, in 
contrast, Tremper did not direct obscenities or personal insults at 
Zuzga, and there is no evidence that the discussion was overheard by 
any employee other than Abbott.

48 Plaza Auto Center, 360 NLRB at 974 (quoting Kiewit Power 
Constructors v. NLRB, 652 F.3d 22, 29 fn. 2 (D.C. Cir. 2011)).

49 Although Tremper was standing in front of the door to Zuzga’s 
office, the record does not support a finding that Tremper was inten-
tionally blocking the exit.  Zuzga testified that he never asked Tremper 
to move away from the doorway, and the record reflects that Abbott 

any threatening gestures or physical contact, and there is 
no evidence that he had any history of violent or threat-
ening behavior.50  We therefore find that the nature of 
Tremper’s “outburst” weighs heavily in favor of protec-
tion, particularly where Tremper was clearly acting in a 
representative capacity.51

As for the last factor, provocation by the employer’s 
unfair labor practices, the conflict between Tremper and 
Zuzga escalated when Zuzga suspended Abbott.  By un-
lawfully suspending Abbott and refusing to answer 
Tremper’s questions about the suspension, Zuzga inter-
fered with the exercise of protected rights and provoked 
Tremper’s reaction, including his refusal to leave 
Zuzga’s office.52

In sum, we find that all four Atlantic Steel factors 
weigh heavily in favor of Tremper retaining the Act’s 

exited Zuzga’s office immediately after he was suspended.  There is no 
mention, moreover, of Tremper blocking the door in his written warn-
ing or in the contemporaneous written statements prepared by Zuzga 
and supervisor Hillman.  Thus, the Respondent’s reliance in this pro-
ceeding on that conduct to justify Tremper’s discipline appears to be a 
post hoc rationalization.  See, e.g., Plaza Auto Center, 360 NLRB at 
977 (Board rejected judge’s characterization of employee’s conduct 
because, among other things, it was not supported by employer’s con-
temporaneous written account).

50 Id. at 976 (finding employee’s conduct was not objectively threat-
ening where he stood up and pushed a chair aside while telling employ-
er he would regret firing another employee, but his conduct was not 
accompanied by threatening gestures or physical contact, and employee 
had no history of violent or threatening behavior); Kiewit Power Con-
structors, 355 NLRB 708, 710 (2010) (telling a supervisor that things 
could “get ugly” and that he should “bring his boxing gloves” did not 
constitute threats of physical harm, but only expressed resistance to a 
policy employees thought was unfair and unsafe), enfd. 652 F.3d 22 
(D.C. Cir. 2011); NLRB v. Southwestern Bell Telephone Co., 694 F.2d 
974, 976-977 (5th Cir. 1982) (steward’s repeated statements that he 
would see supervisor “fry” did not cause him to lose the protection of 
the Act)).

51 In finding a loss of protection, the judge cited to PAE Applied 
Technologies, LLC, 367 NLRB No. 105 (2019), and New Jersey Bell 
Telephone Co., 308 NLRB 277 (1992), cases addressing the conduct of 
Weingarten representatives during investigatory interviews.  See NLRB 
v. J. Weingarten, 420 U.S. 251 (1975).  But those cases involved direc-
tives limiting the role of the Weingarten representatives, not the impo-
sition of discipline as is the case here.  Moreover, the Board has stated 
that “the role of the [Weingarten] representative is to provide assistance 
and counsel to the employee being interrogated”; however, “the pres-
ence of the representative should not transform the interview into an 
adversary contest or a collective-bargaining confrontation.”  New Jer-
sey Bell Telephone Co., 308 NLRB at 279 (citing Weingarten, 420 U.S. 
at 258–259, 263).  For the reasons explained herein, those limitations 
simply do not apply when, as here, a union representative is represent-
ing an employee in a grievance meeting.

PAE Applied Technologies and New Jersey Bell Telephone are readi-
ly distinguishable for the reasons stated above.  Members Prouty and 
Wilcox therefore do not pass on whether they were correctly decided 
insofar as they upheld the limitations on the role of the Weingarten 
representatives at issue in those cases.  Chairman McFerran dissented 
in relevant part in PAE Applied Technologies, and she adheres to the 
views she expressed there.

52 See, e.g., Overnite Transportation, 343 NLRB at 1438 (fourth 
factor favored protection where supervisor provoked union steward by 
refusing to discuss the circumstances of the discharge of eight employ-
ees, which the steward was investigating as potential grievances).
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protection.  Accordingly, we reverse the judge and find-
ing that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) 
by disciplining Tremper for his conduct during the Feb-
ruary 3 meeting.53

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.  The Respondent, Intertape Polymer Corp., is an 
employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of 
Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of 
the Act by engaging in the following conduct:

(a) suspending Mike Abbott on February 3, 2021;
(b) issuing Abbot a disciplinary warning on February 

16 or 17, 2021; and
(c) issuing Robert Tremper a disciplinary warning and 

suspending him on February 16 or 17, 2021
3. The unfair labor practices described above affect 

commerce within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of 
the Act.

REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in cer-
tain unfair labor practices, we shall order it to cease and 
desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to 
effectuate the policies of the Act. Specifically, having 
found that the Respondent unlawfully suspended and 
issued disciplinary warnings to Mike Abbott and Robert 
Tremper because they engaged in union and other pro-
tected concerted activities, we shall order the Respondent 
to remove from its files any references to the unlawful 
disciplinary warnings and suspensions and to notify them 
in writing that this has been done and that the unlawful 
disciplinary warnings and suspensions will not be used 
against them in any way.

We also shall order the Respondent to make Tremper 
whole, with interest, for any loss of earnings and other 
benefits suffered as a result of his unlawful suspension, 
in the amount set forth in the consolidated complaint and 
compliance specification.54 Backpay shall be computed 
in accordance with Ogle Protection Service, 183 NLRB 

53 Even assuming arguendo that the third factor, the nature of the 
outburst, weighed against protection, we would find that this factor is 
insufficient to overcome the other three factors, which weigh heavily in 
favor of protection.  See, e.g. Felix Industries v. NLRB, 251 F.3d 1051, 
1055 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (finding, contrary to the Board, that the outburst 
factor weighed in favor of employee losing protection and remanding 
case to the Board to determine whether that factor sufficiently out-
weighed the other factors to tip the balance in favor of loss of protec-
tion), denying enf. to 331 NLRB 144 (2000), on remand at 339 NLRB 
195, 196–197 (2003) (finding that the outburst factor was “insufficient 
to overcome the other factors” and so again finding the violation), enfd. 
mem. 2004 WL 1498151 (D.C. Cir. 2004).  See also Kiewit Power, 652 
F.3d at 27 fn. 1 (“It is possible for an employee to have an outburst 
weigh against him yet still retain protection because the other three 
factors weigh heavily in his favor.”).

54 In the consolidated complaint and compliance specification, the 
General Counsel alleged backpay for Tremper in the amount of 
$894.80. At the hearing, the Respondent admitted that if it was found 
to have violated the Act as to Tremper, it would owe the amount al-
leged in the compliance specification.

682 (1970), enfd. 444 F.2d 502 (6th Cir. 1971), with in-
terest at the rate prescribed in New Horizons, 283 NLRB 
1173 (1987), compounded daily as prescribed in Ken-
tucky River Medical Center, 356 NLRB 6 (2010). Fur-
ther, we shall order the Respondent to compensate 
Tremper for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of re-
ceiving a lump-sum backpay award, and to file with the 
Regional Director for Region 7, within 21 days of the 
date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by agreement 
or Board order, a report allocating the backpay award to 
the appropriate calendar year(s). AdvoServ of New Jer-
sey, Inc., 363 NLRB 1324 (2016). In addition to the 
backpay allocation report, we shall order the Respondent 
to file with the Regional Director for Region 7 a copy of 
Tremper’s corresponding W-2 form(s) reflecting the 
backpay award. Cascade Containerboard Packaging –
Niagara, 370 NLRB No. 76 (2021), as modified in 371 
NLRB No. 25 (2021).

Moreover, in accordance with Thryv, Inc., 372 NLRB 
No. 22 (2022), enf. denied on other grounds __ F.4th __ 
(5th Cir. May 24, 2024), the Respondent shall compen-
sate Tremper for any other direct or foreseeable pecuni-
ary harms incurred as a result of the unlawful suspension. 
Compensation for these harms and expenses shall be 
calculated separately from taxable net backpay, with in-
terest at the rate prescribed in New Horizons, above, 
compounded daily as prescribed in Kentucky River Medi-
cal Center, above.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the 
Respondent, Intertape Polymer Corp., Marysville, Mich-
igan, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall 

1.  Cease and desist from
(a)  Issuing disciplinary warnings to or suspending 

employees because of their support for and activities on 
behalf of the Local 1149 International Union, United 
Automobile, Aerospace and Agricultural Workers of 
America (UAW), AFL–CIO (the Union) or any other 
labor organization.

(b)  In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2.  Take the following affirmative action necessary to 
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a)  Within 14 days from the date of this Order, re-
move from its files any reference to the unlawful disci-
plinary warnings and suspensions, and within 3 days 
thereafter, notify Mike Abbott and Robert Tremper in 
writing that this has been done and that the disciplinary 
warnings and suspensions will not be used against them 
in any way. 

(b)  Make Robert Tremper whole for any loss of earn-
ings and other benefits in the amount of $894.80, and for 
any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms suffered 
as a result of his unlawful suspension, plus interest ac-
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crued to the date of payment, and minus tax withholding 
required by Federal and State laws, in the manner set 
forth in the remedy section of this decision.

(c) Compensate Robert Tremper for the adverse tax 
consequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum backpay 
award, and file with the Regional Director for Region 7, 
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is 
fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report allo-
cating the backpay award(s) to the appropriate calendar 
year(s).

(d) File with the Regional Director for Region 7, with-
in 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed by 
agreement or Board order or such additional time as the 
Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a 
copy of Robert Tremper’s corresponding W-2 form(s) 
reflecting the backpay award. 

(e)  Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at 
its Marysville, Michigan facility copies of the attached 
notice marked “Appendix.”55  Copies of the notice, on 
forms provided by the Regional Director for Region 7, 
after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized repre-
sentative, shall be posted by the Respondent and main-
tained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places, 
including all places where notices to employees are cus-
tomarily posted.  In addition to physical posting of paper 
notices, notices shall be distributed electronically, such 
as by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, 
and/or other electronic means, if the Respondent custom-
arily communicates with its employees by such means.  
Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to 
ensure that the notices are not altered, defaced, or cov-
ered by any other material.  If the Respondent has gone 
out of business or closed the facility involved in these 
proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at 
its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current em-
ployees and former employees employed by the Re-
spondent at any time since February 3, 2021.

(f)  Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, or such 
additional time as the Regional Director may allow for 
good cause shown, provide at a reasonable place desig-

55 If the facility involved in these proceedings is open and staffed by 
a substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted 
within 14 days after service by the Region.  If the facility involved in 
these proceedings is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement 
of employees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pan-
demic, the notice must be posted within 14 days after the facility reo-
pens and a substantial complement of employees have returned to 
work.  If, while closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of 
employees due to the pandemic, the Respondent is communicating with 
its employees by electronic means, the notice must also be posted by 
such electronic means within 14 days after service by the Region.  If 
the notice to be physically posted was posted electronically more than 
60 days before physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at 
the bottom that “This notice is the same notice previously [sent or 
posted] electronically on [date].”  If this Order is enforced by a judg-
ment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice read-
ing “Posted by Order of the National Labor Relations Board” shall read 
“Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals 
Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board.”

nated by the Board or its agents, all payroll records, so-
cial security payment records, timecards, personnel rec-
ords and reports, and all other records, including an elec-
tronic copy of such records if stored in electronic form, 
necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due under 
the terms of this Order.

(g)  Within 21 days after service by the Region, file 
with the Regional Director for Region 7 a sworn certifi-
cation of a responsible official on a form provided by the 
Region attesting to the steps that the Respondent has 
taken to comply.

Dated, Washington, D.C.  June 17, 2024

______________________________________
Lauren McFerran,                            Chairman

________________________________________
David M. Prouty,                                    Member

________________________________________
Gwynne A. Wilcox,                               Member

(SEAL)            NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we 
violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and 
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on 

your behalf
Act together with other employees for your bene-

fit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected 

activities.

WE WILL NOT discipline, suspend, or otherwise dis-
criminate against any of you for supporting Local 1149 
International Union, United Automobile, Aerospace and 
Agricultural Workers of America (UAW), AFL–CIO 
(the Union) or any other labor organization.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere 
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights 
listed above.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s 
Order, remove from our files any reference to the unlaw-
ful disciplinary warnings and suspensions issued to Mike 
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Abbott and Robert Tremper, and WE WILL, within 3 days 
thereafter, notify each of them in writing that this has 
been done and that the disciplinary warnings and suspen-
sions will not be used against them in any way.

WE WILL make Robert Tremper whole for any loss of 
earnings and other benefits suffered as a result of his 
unlawful suspension in the amount of $894.80, plus in-
terest accrued to the date of payment, and minus tax 
withholding required by Federal and State laws, and WE

WILL also make him whole for any other direct or fore-
seeable pecuniary harms suffered as a result of our un-
lawful conduct, plus interest.

WE WILL compensate Robert Tremper for the adverse 
tax consequences, if any, of receiving a lump-sum back-
pay award, and WE WILL file with the Regional Director 
for Region 7, within 21 days of the date the amount of 
backpay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a 
report allocating the backpay award to the appropriate 
calendar year(s).

WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 7 
a copy of Robert Tremper’s corresponding W-2 form(s) 
reflecting the backpay award.

INTERTAPE POLYMER CORPORATION

The Board’s decision can be found at 
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/07-CA-273203 or by using the 
QR code below.  Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the 
decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Re-
lations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 
20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

Steven E. Carlson, Esq., for the General Counsel.
Jeffrey A. Schwartz, Esq., for Respondent.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

ROBERT A. GIANNASI, Administrative Law Judge. A virtual 
zoom hearing in this case took place on September 28, 2021.  
The complaint alleges that the Respondent violated Section 8(a) 
(3) and (1) of the Act by suspending employees Robert Trem-
per and Mike Abbott because they engaged in union and pro-
tected activity.  The complaint also alleges that Respondent 
violated Section 8(a)(4), (3), and (1) of the Act by issuing 
warnings to employees Tremper and Mario Pruccoli because of 
their union activities and because of their involvement in filing 
an unfair labor practice charge with the Board on the above 
suspensions.  Respondent filed an answer denying the essential 

allegations in the complaint.1  (Tr. 5–6.) After the conclusion of 
the trial, the General Counsel and the Respondent filed briefs, 
which I have read and considered.2

Based on the briefs and the entire record,3 including the tes-
timony of the witnesses and my observation of their demeanor, 
I make the following

FINDINGS OF FACT

I.  JURISDICTION

Respondent, a corporation with an office and place of busi-
ness in Marysville, Michigan, is engaged in the manufacture, 
non-retail sale and distribution of adhesive tapes.  In conduct-
ing its operations during a representative one-year period, Re-
spondent purchased and received, at its Marysville facility, 
goods valued in excess of $50,000 directly from points outside 
of Michigan. Accordingly, I find, as Respondent admits, that 
Respondent is an employer engaged in commerce within the 
meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.  

I further find, as Respondent also admits, that the Charging 
Party (hereafter, the Union) is a labor organization within the 
meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES

A.  The Facts

Background

Respondent’s Marysville facility operates on three shifts. 
The three employees whose disciplines are at issue in this case 
worked on the third shift, which begins at midnight and ends at 
8 am. Respondent’s roughly 140 employees have been repre-
sented by the Union for many years and the relationship of the 
parties has included successive collective-bargaining agree-
ments, the last of which was negotiated shortly before the hear-
ing in this case to replace the one that ran from May 3, 2018, to 
May 2, 2021.  (Tr. 27.)

At the time of the events in this case, Tremper and Pruccoli 
were slitter operators working on separate parts of a large tape 
splitter machine, which takes jumbo rolls of product, breaks 
them down to a 16-inch roll, then slits that roll to smaller sizes 
and finally packages the material and puts it onto pallets for the 
product to be distributed.  Tr. 24.  Abbott was an electrician 
who tended to the machines at the facility.  Pruccoli was a 
committeeman for the Union and Tremper was a steward for 
the Union.  Joe Picarello is the supervisor on the midnight shift 
and John Zuzga is the overall maintenance manager for the 

1 The complaint includes a compliance specification addressed to 
backpay assertedly due to Tremper because of his lost wages for the 5-
day suspension levied on him.  Assuming the suspension is found to be 
unlawful, Respondent has no objection to the backpay figure set forth 
in the compliance specification. Tr. 19.

2 At the outset of the hearing the General Counsel was permitted to 
amend the complaint to add an allegation that Respondent violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by refusing to discuss contractual grievances 
regarding the suspensions of Tremper and Abbott.  Evidence was taken 
on that matter, but, in his brief, counsel for General Counsel moved to 
withdraw that allegation.  See GC Br. p. 1, fn. 3.  The motion is grant-
ed.

3 The General Counsel filed an unopposed motion to correct tran-
script, which is hereby granted except for the alleged error at Tr. 214 
line 9, which I could not verify. 
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Respondent.  (Tr. 25, 146–147.)4

The Events of February 3, 2021 and the Following Disciplines

At about 2 a.m. on February 3, 2021, there was a fire in the 
facility at or near the Banbury machine, which processes and 
mixes additives to a rubber base that goes into the ultimate 
adhesive product.  (Tr. 84.)  Mike Abbott, an electrician in the 
maintenance department, was alerted to the fire.  He and anoth-
er electrician shut off the Banbury disconnect and tried to lo-
cate the source of the fire.  (Tr. 85.)  Once it was located and 
contained—by 3:30 or 4 a.m. in the morning, Abbott “locked it 
out,” which meant that he put his personal padlock on the dis-
connect that controlled the Banbury.  This was a safety precau-
tion that prevented anyone from accidentally turning on the 
machine while maintenance was working on it.  Abbott cleaned 
out burnt insulation on the wires at the source of the fire to 
prevent the fire from flaring up again; he then left the scene to 
perform other duties. He left further inquiry into the fire, re-
pairs, and resumption of operations to the day shift.  (Tr. 86–
87.)

Maintenance Manager Zuzga, whose normal hours are 8 am 
to 5 pm on the first shift (Tr. 146), received notice of the fire in 
the early morning hours while he was at home.  He left for the 
plant earlier than his normal starting time and arrived at about 
6:15 a.m. (Tr. 148.)  After arriving at the facility, he briefly 
inspected the area of the fire, which had been extinguished by 
then, but he had questions about the fire and its effects.  He 
thereafter met and spoke with Mike Abbott about what had 
happened so he could pass the information on to contractors 
and others who had to deal with the aftermath of the fire.  There 
was no intention or prospect of disciplinary action in that meet-
ing, which took place on the work floor.  (Tr. 148–150.)

At some point, Zuzga and Abbott started walking over to the 
source of the fire at the Banbury machine so Abbott could ex-
plain what he did to neutralize the area after the fire.  Abbott 
then said that Zuzga should get his lock, presumably to put on 
the machine affected by the fire.  Zuzga said he did not need a 
lock because he was not going to touch any of the equipment 
that would require him to lock anything.  Abbott replied by 
repeating that Zuzga needed a lock, to which Zuzga again said 
he did not.  At that point, Abbott asked for his union repre-
sentative and Zuzga agreed. Shortly thereafter Union Steward 
Robert Tremper, joined Zuzga and Abbott.  The three then 
engaged in a discussion as to whether Zuzga had to put his lock 
on the affected machine.  Tremper and Abbott took the position 
that, in the past, a supervisor put his lock on a machine taken 
out of service.  Zuzga, who had taken over his management 
duties some 4 or 5 months before, insisted that he did not need 
to put his lock on the machine for what he needed to do.  He 
simply wanted to go to the affected machine and have Abbott 
show him the area of the fire and what had been done to reme-
dy the situation.  The interchange became argumentative and 
tense so Zuzga led the others to his office where they could 
speak in private without the interference of work floor noise. 
(Tr. 150–153.)  At that point, all three, Zuzga, Abbott and 
Tremper, were wearing earplugs.  (Tr. 67, 153.)

When the three reached Zuzga’s office, they were joined by 
Shift Supervisor Dennis Hillman, whom Zuzga asked to join 
the meeting.  (Tr. 153.)  When Zuzga asked the others to sit 

4 Zuzga became the maintenance manager in September of 2020.  
He had not worked for Respondent before his appointment to that posi-
tion.

down, Tremper responded, “I’m not here for some sit-down 
party.”  Zuzga was surprised at the comment but responded 
“okay” and Tremper remained standing throughout the meet-
ing.  (Tr. 153.)  Then Zuzga turned to Abbot and asked him 
why he thought that Zuzga needed to get his lock before he 
went to the machine with Abbot to ask questions about the fire 
and how it was handled.  Abbot responded that the previous 
maintenance manager had that practice.  Zuzga asked what the 
reason was for that past practice but did not get an adequate 
reply.  He stated his view that it was unnecessary to put his lock 
on the machine because of his assessment of company policy 
and what he had to do at that time.  (Tr. 153–154.) Zuzga indi-
cated that he was sticking with his view and asked that the 
meeting end because he needed “to get out there with Mike” in 
order for him to find out “what’s going on with the machine.”  
(Tr. 155.)

At that point, Tremper started to argue with Zuzga about the 
company policy, which was apparently based on an OSHA 
regulation with which Zuzga was very familiar.  Zuzga asked if 
Tremper was familiar with the policy and Tremper replied “no, 
that’s not my job.  That’s your job.”  Zuzga agreed and said that 
“neither one of you can show me how I’m making anybody 
unsafe.  You need to get back to work.”  (Tr. 155–156.)  Zuzga 
said that he needed to go out to the work floor with Abbott to 
discuss with him what was done there after the fire. Tremper 
continued to argue and insisted that Abbott was not going to go 
out to the work floor without Tremper.  Zuzga held to his view 
that the meeting was ending and Tremper and Abbott should go 
back to work, noting that there might be repercussions if they 
did not.  (Tr. 156, 171–173.)  Tremper replied that this meant 
that Abbott would be disciplined so he had to be present. Zuzga 
denied Tremper’s statement, saying that no one had even men-
tioned discipline.  ()Tr. 156.  Zuzga again tried to end the meet-
ing.  He also told Abbott he was “temporarily suspended until 
we can resolve this because I can’t work with you right now 
apparently so you’re going to have to go home.”  (Tr. 156–
157.)

Abbott then left the meeting but Tremper kept arguing with 
Zuzga and he remained standing near the door blocking Zuzga 
and Hillman from leaving the office.  Zuzga then said the meet-
ing was over and asked Tremper to leave.  Tremper refused.  
Zuzga again asked Tremper to leave the office and this time 
Tremper asked if that was a “direct order.” Finally, after more 
such exchanges, Tremper left the office.  At one point when 
Tremper was in the doorway arguing with Zuzga, Tremper said 
this: “Are we men here? . . .We can’t talk? . . .Are you a man?”  
(Tr. 159.)  Zuzga simply asked Tremper again to leave.  Zuzga 
testified that he told Tremper to leave his office “at least four 
times.”  (Tr. 157–159.)

Zuzga testified that he felt that Tremper was challenging him 
in an aggressive way, especially when he stood in the doorway 
and refused to leave the office as directed. Zuzga viewed 
Tremper’s behavior as threatening and an attempt to bully man-
agement.  (Tr. 159, 185–191.)

The above is based mostly on Zuzga’s clear and detailed tes-
timony about the events of February 3.  I was very impressed 
with his calm and forthright demeanor.  His testimony also 
survived vigorous cross-examination. His contemporary notes, 
about which he was questioned by counsel for General Coun-
sel, essentially confirmed his direct testimony, although he 
candidly conceded some differences, none of them serious 
enough to contradict the thrust of his direct testimony or other-
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wise to cause me to question his reliability as a witness.  In 
contrast, Tremper was not as detailed in his testimony and his 
demeanor on the witness stand confirmed Zuzga’s description 
of his contentious and confrontational persona in the February 3 
incident.  Actually, Tremper’s account of what happened in the 
meeting in Zuzga’s office did not differ much from that of 
Zuzga, except perhaps in attributing most of the heat to Zuzga 
rather than himself.  I have no doubt that the exchange in 
Zuzga’s office became heated, as Tremper testified (Tr. 71), but 
I believe Tremper was much more aggressive in his stance and 
tone than Zuzga.  I also believe that Tremper viewed his inter-
actions with Zuzga as a means of asserting some kind of psy-
chological advantage over a newly installed management offi-
cial: That likely explained Tremper’s admitted refusal to sit 
when Zuzga invited the participants to sit at the beginning of 
the meeting in his office.  Tremper confirmed (Tr. 33) that, at 
that point, he said “I am not here to sit down,” although I be-
lieve he said something much more emphatic as Zuzga testi-
fied.  That view probably also explained his disparaging re-
marks, while refusing to leave the office, that included asking 
Zuzga whether he was a “man,” the essential facts of which 
Tremper did not deny.  Nor did Tremper deny refusing to leave 
the office unless he received a direct order, although he at-
tempted to minimize the matter. In fact, Tremper himself ad-
mitted he was told to leave 3 or 4 times.  (Tr. 74.)  Indeed, 
Tremper seemed unduly sensitive to the issue of status.  All of 
this colored his testimony.  Accordingly, as between Tremper 
and Zuzga, I found Zuzga to be the more reliable witness.

Although I viewed Abbott as a fairly honest witness and his 
account of how he handled the fire is uncontradicted, his testi-
mony on the rest of the happenings on February 3 did not seri-
ously deviate from Zuzga’s, but it was not as complete or de-
tailed.  Neither Abbott nor Tremper disputed Zuzga’s essential 
testimony that the two sides disagreed on the need for Zuzga to 
put his own lock on the out of order machine.  The essence of 
Abbott’s and Tremper’s testimony seemed to be that Zuzga was 
insistent that he was right and they somehow took offense at 
that.  Abbott also testified that he was preoccupied and did not 
listen to much of the interaction between Tremper and Zuzga in 
the office meeting because he was talking to his supervisor, 
Dennis Hillman, who was trying to “reinforce” what Zuzga 
“was saying.”  (Tr. 101.)  And, of course, Abbott had left the 
office before the last part of the meeting where Tremper dispar-
aged Zuzga and stood in the doorway refusing to leave the of-
fice despite being directed to do so.  (See Tr. 101–102.)

Zuzga brought the February 3 incident to the attention of the 
HR department and recommended that Tremper be disciplined, 
which resulted in the 5-day suspension that is the subject of this 
case.  Zuzga was not the sole decider as to the eventual decision 
on the 5-day suspension.  (Tr. 160–161.)  That was determined 
after discussions between Senior Human Resources Manager 
Amy Walton, John Zuzga, Operations Manager Brian Newman 
and perhaps Production Manager Bruce Mathews.  (Tr. 242–
244.)  Aside from considering the statements of Zuzga and 
Hillman, there was no attempt by management officials to get 
the views of Abbott and Tremper about the incident on Febru-
ary 3.  (Tr. 256–258, 260–261.)  According to Respondent, 
Tremper’s conduct violated Rule 36 of Respondent’s rules, 
which prohibits threatening, intimidating or interfering with 
supervisors.  The document, titled “Final Warning Disciplinary 
Action”, was issued on February 16, 2021, by Production Man-
ager Bruce Mathews.  (GC Exh. 3.) Respondent’s justification 

for the suspension was that Tremper intimidated Zuzga, par-
ticularly in refusing to leave Zuzga’s office and by interfering 
with Zuzga’s attempt to get information from Abbott about the 
status of a critical piece of equipment after the fire.  (Tr. 261–
262.) The written discipline was presented to Tremper in a 
meeting at 7:45 a.m. on February 16 in Zuzga’s office.  Also 
present in addition to Zuzga and Tremper, were Mario Pruccoli, 
the third shift union committeeman, and Bruce Mathews.  

In a separate meeting, either on February 16 or a day or two 
later, Abbott was presented with a written document reflecting 
a verbal warning, essentially for Abbott’s refusal to give Zuzga 
the information he needed and questioning Zuzga’s determina-
tion that he did not need to place his lock on the affected ma-
chine.  (GC Exh. 5.)  The verbal warning indicates that it was 
issued by Zuzga but it was presented by Supervisor Hillman.  
Union Committeeman Pruccoli or another union official was 
also present when the document was presented to Abbott. Tr., 
103-106. In this warning, Zuzga cited a violation of Rule 21 of 
the Respondent’s rules, indirect insubordination by challenging 
the directions of a supervisor.  But Abbott was paid for the brief 
time he missed for being sent home for the rest of his shift of 
February 3.  (Tr. 161–162. GC)  Abbott is no longer employed 
by Respondent, having left at some point before the hearing in 
this case.  (Tr. 47.)

At the meeting in Zuzga’s office on February 16, referred to 
above, Pruccoli stated that he would file an unfair labor practice 
charge over the matter.  Tr. 43-45, 113–114. He did so on Feb-
ruary 19, 2021.  The charge was filed with Region 7 of the 
Board, alleging a violation of the Act in the disciplines issued 
to Tremper and Abbott with respect to the incident on February 
3.  On February 24, 2021, the Regional Director for Region 7 
sent a letter to Respondent’s Production Manager, Bruce 
Mathews, notifying him of the filing of the charge.  (GC Exh. 
1(a).) Senior Human Resources Manager Amy Walton testified 
that she was notified of the filing of the charge in an email from 
Mathews on March 1, 2021.  (Tr. 235.)5

Also, on February 19, the Union filed grievances over the 
disciplines of Abbott and Tremper with Respondent under the 
applicable collective bargaining agreement.  (GC Exhs. 6 and 
7.)  There was a discussion of those grievances, as well as oth-
ers, at the regularly scheduled monthly grievance meeting be-
tween management and union representatives on March 18, 
2021.  (Tr. 135–139.)

The Disciplines of Pruccoli and Tremper for What Happened 
on February 26.

Employees Pruccoli and Tremper received warnings for not 

5 Tremper testified that the day after he received his 5-day suspen-
sion, which would have been on February 17, he was motioned into 
Picarello’s office where Supervisor Aaron Jamison was also present.  
Tr. 45-47. According to Tremper, Picarello asked about the suspension 
and he handed both men the document he received about the suspen-
sion and both read it.  Tremper responded that he was not worried about 
the suspension because “[w]e’re just going to let the Labor Board deal 
with it.”  Tr. 47.  Even though this testimony was uncontradicted, I do 
not credit it.  The testimony does not have the ring of truth.  Rather it 
seemed a strained attempt by Tremper to show Jamison’s knowledge of 
the filing of the charge in support of the contention that a subsequent 
warning issued to him by Jamison, which is discussed later in this deci-
sion, was motivated in part by the filing of an unfair labor practice 
charge over the suspension.  Jamison was, of course, not involved in 
the incident that led to the suspension and he worked on the first shift, 
not the midnight shift, as did Picarello and Tremper.  
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properly cleaning their parts of the multi-head slitter machine at 
the end of their shift on Friday, February 26.6  That machine 
spans 3 levels and workstations—the front, the middle and 
back.  It runs on all three shifts and requires 3 operators to run.  
(Tr. 120–121.)  On February 26, the regular third-shift supervi-
sor was not working and covering for him for the last four 
hours of the shift was the first shift supervisor, Aaron Jamison.  
(Tr. 121–122.)  Pruccoli testified that, at the end of the shift on 
February 26, he was working in the middle section of the ma-
chine and did his usual clean-up, including wiping off the ex-
cess glue or tape, if any, on the 5 blades used on that section of 
the machine. (Tr. 122.)  As he was performing his cleaning 
duties at the end of the shift, Pruccoli saw Jamison motion to 
Tremper, who was working on the back section of the machine 
to pick up rolls of tape on the floor of his workstation.  He also 
saw Tremper pick up those rolls. (Tr. 123.)  Pruccoli then fin-
ished cleaning the cutter and left.  (Tr. 123.)

Tremper testified that he was working in the back section of 
the machine on February 26.  At about 7:30 a.m., Jamison ap-
proached Tremper and told him to clean ups his area and he did 
so.  (Tr. 49.)  

Neither Tremper nor Pruccoli was notified that there was any 
problem with their work on February 26 until about two weeks 
later when they were both issued verbal warnings in written 
documents, as discussed below.

Jamison, who has been lead production supervisor in the 
converting department for 8 years (Tr. 195, 221), supported 
some of the above testimony from Pruccoli and Tremper.  The 
main difference was that Jamison testified that, after the end of 
the night shift, he checked the slitter machine and found that 
the sections that Pruccoli and Tremper worked on were not 
cleaned properly.  Jamison made it clear that he was not saying 
that the workstations were not cleaned, but rather that the clean-
ing job was not “satisfactory.”  (Tr. 213, 222.) After viewing 
the unsatisfactory cleanliness at the end of the shift, Jamison 
went to his office to pick up his i-pad, which he used to take 
photographs of the unsatisfactory cleaning on the sections of 
the machine that Tremper and Pruccoli had worked on.  (Tr. 
216–217, 227, R. Exhs. 1A-1C.)  He sent those pictures to the 
HR department along with a direction that a verbal warning be 
issued on the matter to the two employees.  This was done that 
same day, February 26.  (Tr. 197–201, 205–207, 218.)  See also 
Tr. 231–235.  

Jamison testified, contrary to Tremper and Pruccoli, that 
Tremper did not pick up the tape on the floor at his workstation 
after he asked Tremper to do so near the end of the shift.  (Tr. 
219–220.) He conceded that he did not talk to Pruccoli at this 
time.  Nor did he specifically instruct Pruccoli to clean his area.  
(Tr. 219–220.)  According to Jamison, he checked the blades 
that Pruccoli was supposed to clean at the end of his shift when 
another employee on the first shift told him that the blades had 
not been cleaned, although he could not recall the name of that 
employee.  (Tr. 221, 225–226.)  He also testified that, although 
he walks through the department every day and checks every 
machine, he had never found “tapes that were not cleaned up or 
blades that were not cleaned up,” at least on the slitter machine.  
(Tr. 221.)  Jamison further testified that the third section of the 
machine was properly cleaned at the end of the third shift on 
February 26.  (Tr. 219.)  Jamison testified that, in his 8 years as 

6 Tremper returned to work on February 25 after his suspension 
ended.  Tr.47. 

a supervisor, he had issued disciplines for improper cleaning 
(Tr. 221–222), but none were introduced in evidence by Re-
spondent.  He also testified that he took photographs of other 
improprieties in support of his disciplines (Tr. 223), but, again, 
no such photographs were offered in evidence.  Nor was there 
any other corroboration of Jamison’s testimony with respect to 
previous similar disciplines or photographs.

Jamison further testified that, when he made the determina-
tion to discipline Tremper and Pruccoli, he was unaware that an 
unfair labor practice charge had been filed over the incident 
involving Tremper and Abbott on February 3.  According to 
Jamison, he first learned of that charge the week before the 
hearing.  (Tr. 201–202.)  As indicated above, that charge was 
filed on February 19, 2021, and was communicated to Human 
Resources Manager Walton on March 1.  Those objective facts 
support Jamison’s testimony that he did not know of the filing 
of charges when he decided to discipline Tremper and Abbott.

In a meeting in Supervisor Picarello’s office on March 8, 
2021, Pruccoli and Tremper were presented with written docu-
ments reflecting verbal warnings issued by Jamison for failing 
to properly clean their work areas on February 26.  The docu-
ments were presented to Tremper and Pruccoli by Picarello, but 
Jamison was not present.  (Tr. 124–127, 47–52.)  The verbal 
warnings cited violations of Rule 6 of Respondent’s work rules, 
“failure to work efficiently and/or competently on work as-
signed.” (GC Exhs. 4 and 8.) With the documents setting forth 
the verbal warnings were Jamison’s photographs purporting to 
show the state of the slitter machine sections left by Pruccoli 
and Tremper at the end of their shift.  (R. Exh.1A–1C, Tr. 124–
127, 47–52.)

In the March 8 meeting, Pruccoli protested that the photo-
graph about the blade he was accused of failing to clean simply 
had a piece of tape on it.  Pruccoli testified that it is not unusual 
for a piece of tape to be stuck on the blade.  According to Pruc-
coli, there is no reason to remove the tape unless it affects the 
cutting ability of the blade, in which case the tape is removed.  
(Tr. 125–126.)  Pruccoli testified that he would normally re-
move any tape on a blade during the cleaning process at the end 
of his shift, but he candidly admitted that he could not recall if 
he did so on February 26.  (Tr. 128.)(  Tremper also protested 
his warning during the March 8 meeting and he wrote his 
handwritten protest on the warning.  See GC Exh. 4.)

After he received his verbal warning on March 8, Pruccoli 
spoke separately with Jamison, questioning the basis of the 
warning, in the presence also of Tremper.  (Tr. 128–129.)  
Jamison said that Pruccoli did not clean the cutter and Pruccoli 
insisted that he did, reminding Jameson that he saw Pruccoli 
cleaning it.  According to Pruccoli, Jamison replied that the 
blades were “filthy and a mess,” to which Pruccoli responded 
that he had seen the pictures and they showed only a piece of 
tape on a blade and some smudges on it.  Pruccoli also told 
Jamison that hardly anyone cleans the smudges off the blades 
since a so-called “wick solution” was introduced about a year 
before, which acted as a lubricant between blade and the tape.  
(Tr. 129–130.)  Pruccoli also testified that, as a union commit-
teeman, he never previously saw any kind of discipline issued 
for not cleaning a cutter blade.  (Tr. 130.)  

Tremper corroborated Pruccoli’s account of their meeting 
with Jameson after the receipt of their verbal warnings.  (Tr. 
53.)  According to Tremper, when he and Pruccoli said their 
cleaning on February 26 was no different than it was on any 
other day, Jamison replied that then it was a consistency issue, 
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implying that not all supervisors were enforcing the matter in 
the same way.  (Tr 54.)  Tremper testified that, in his experi-
ence as a union steward, he was not aware of any prior disci-
plines for inadequate cleaning. (Tr. 55–56.)

The testimony of Pruccoli and Tremper about their meeting 
with Jamison after they were issued their verbal warnings on 
March 8 was not only mutually corroborative in essence but 
uncontradicted because Jameson did not deny the meeting or 
refer to it at all in his testimony.  I therefore credit their testi-
mony about the meeting.

The day after he received his verbal warning, at the start of 
his shift, Pruccoli noticed smudges on all five blades in his 
section of the slitter machine.  He pointed them out to his su-
pervisor, Joe Picarello, who, upon noticing the smudges, 
laughed, and said he was not going “to get in the middle of 
this” and he walked away.  (Tr. 130–131.) This is based on 
Pruccoli’s uncontradicted testimony because Picarello did not 
testify in this proceeding.

Neither Tremper nor Pruccoli had any prior disciplines on 
their records prior to the March 8 verbal warnings for violating 
Rule 6 of the Respondent’s rules, or, if they had such disci-
plines, they had been removed from their records, presumably 
based on Respondent’s policy to remove disciplines after a 
certain period has elapsed after the date of the discipline.  (Tr. 
253.)

B.  Discussion and Analysis

The Alleged Discriminatory Suspensions and Warnings

The touchstone of the analysis for the disciplinary suspen-
sions of Tremper and Abbot for their actions and conduct on 
February 3 and the disciplinary verbal warnings of Tremper and 
Pruccoli for their failure to properly clean their workstations on 
February 26 is Respondent’s motivation for those disciplines.  
The alleged improper motivation for the first set of disciplines 
is discrimination based on union or other protected concerted 
activity (Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act).  The alleged im-
proper motivation for the second set of disciplines is the same, 
along with discrimination in connection with the filing of unfair 
labor practices (Section 8(a)(4)).

Such cases are analyzed under the dual motive causation test 
set forth in Wright Line, 251 NLRB 1083 (1980), enf’d on other 
grounds 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied 455 U.S. 989 
(1982), approved in NLRB v. Transportation Management 
Corp., 462 U.S. 393 (1983).  See also Tschiggfrie Properties, 
Ltd., 368 NLRB No. 120, slip op. 7 (2019). Under Wright Line, 
the General Counsel must satisfy an initial burden of showing 
by a preponderance of the evidence that the employee’s pro-
tected activity was a motivating factor in a respondent’s ad-
verse action. If the General Counsel meets that initial burden, 
the burden shifts to the respondent to show that it would have 
taken the same action even absent the employee’s protected 
activity. See Hard Hat Services, LLC, 366 NLRB No. 106, slip 
op. 7 (2018), and cases there cited.  

As shown below, in applying these principles, I dismiss the 
discrimination allegations in this case.

The Disciplines for What Happened on February 3

The General Counsel asserts that the protected Section 7 
right engaged in by Abbott and Tremper, his union representa-
tive, was the one set forth in the collective-bargaining agree-
ment (GC Exh. 2).  General Counsel Brief pp. 2–3, 20, and 21.  
More precisely, according to the General Counsel, Tremper and 

Abbott were enforcing the safety provision of the contract, 
which provides that Respondent “equip hazardous machinery 
with effective safety devices.”  Section 18.1 of General Counsel
Exhibit 2.  The General Counsel also asserts that Abbott and 
Tremper were bringing those safety concerns to the attention of 
Zuzga under Step 1 of the contractual grievance procedure.  
Section 4.1 of General Counsel Exhibit 2.  See NLRB v. City 
Disposal Systems, Inc., 465 U.S. 822 (1984).7

The General Counsel disavows any reliance on the protected 
Section 7 right defined by the Supreme Court’s ruling in NLRB 
v. J. Weingarten, 420 U.S. 251 (1971).  See General Counsel
Brief at p. 23, fn. 16.  However, I find that decision (and its 
progeny) instructive, in at least an analogous sense, in analyz-
ing the issues in this case.  In Weingarten, the Court stated that 
an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act when it denies 
an employee’s request to have a union representative present at 
an investigatory interview that the employee reasonably be-
lieves might result in disciplinary action.  The test for the latter 
determination is measured by an objective standard under all 
the circumstances in the case, rather than by the employee’s 
subjective belief.  See Southwestern Bell Telephone Co., 338 
NLRB 552 (2002), finding that the standard was not met.  It is 
also clear that, even in a Weingarten situation, where a union 
representative is representing an employee in a meeting that 
may result in discipline, a union representative who engages in 
conduct that interferes with the proper interrogation of the em-
ployee or upends the employer’s control of the meeting exceeds 
his or her role as a union representative.  Indeed, an employer 
may, in those circumstances, lawfully eject the union repre-
sentative from the interview.  See New Jersey Telephone Com-
pany, 308 NLRB 278, 279–280 (1992); and PAE Applied Tech-
nologies, LLC, 367 NLRB No. 105, slip op. at 3–4 (2019).

As an initial matter, I find that, in the exchange on the work 
floor and in the meeting in Zuzga’s office, Abbott did not have 
an objectively based belief that he was in danger of being disci-
plined.  In their first encounter on the work floor, Zuzga made 
it clear that he simply wanted Abbott to go with him to the 
source of the fire to point out what the problem was and what 
he had done to rectify it.  Zuzga had to have that information to 
determine what kind of remediation had to be done.  Abbott 
then asked whether Zuzga was going to put his lock on the 
affected machine, as a previous supervisor had done in similar 
circumstances.  When Zuzga said he did not need to put his 
lock on the machine for what he needed to do, Abbott asked for 
his union representative.  Even though, at this point, there was 
no objective evidence that discipline was even a possibility, 
Zuzga nevertheless permitted Tremper to assist Abbott and join 
the discussion.

7 The record does not support a finding that Tremper and Abbott 
explicitly asked for a Step 1 grievance meeting or explicitly even raised 
a contract grievance either in the meeting on the work floor or the 
meeting in Zuzga’s office.  The dispute was over whether Zuzga should 
put his own lock on the affected machine for what he wanted to do—
have Abbott explain at the site of the fire what he had done with respect 
to the fire.  I am not sure that that amounts to a contractual grievance.  
Nor is there evidence that the alleged grievance over safety matters 
proceeded beyond Step 1.  Nevertheless, I have no doubt that Tremper 
and Abbott were engaged in protected activity of some kind when they 
met with Zuzga on February 3. Accordingly, I will accept, for the pur-
pose of my analysis, the General Counsel’s explanation of the protected 
union activity involved in this case.  That of course does not answer the 
question whether the discipline was motivated by that protected activi-
ty.
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Assuming, in accordance with the General Counsel’s theory 
of the case that Abbott and Tremper were attempting to enforce 
a contractual right and bringing a Step 1 contractual grievance 
to the attention of Zuzga, there is no evidence that Zuzga’ ejec-
tion of Tremper from the meeting or the ultimate 5-day suspen-
sion of Tremper were motivated by Tremper’s protected or 
union activity.  To the contrary, Zuzga readily agreed to Ab-
bott’s request to involve a union representative in the discus-
sion about whether he, Zuzga, should put his own lock on the 
affected machine.  Moreover, Zuzga patiently listened to coun-
ter arguments from Tremper and Abbot.  Indeed, when Zuzga 
cited company policy in support of his position, Tremper ad-
mitted that he had not read the policy and that was Zuzga’s job.  
When Zuzga finally made it clear he was not convinced by 
Tremper’s and Abbott’s arguments and decided, in effect, to 
reject their position and end the meeting, that also ended Step 1 
of the grievance procedure.  That the meeting ended in the re-
jection of the position advanced by Tremper and Abbott surely 
does not mean Zuzga’s decision to suspend Tremper was based 
on unlawful considerations. 

Despite the legitimate end of the meeting and the rejection of 
any asserted grievance, Tremper nevertheless remained bellig-
erent. He continued to argue and refused to go back to work as 
he was ordered.  He became even more confrontational than he 
was at the beginning of the meeting when he refused to sit and 
remained standing as an act of defiance.  He disparaged Zuzga 
by asking him whether he was a man and stood in the doorway 
refusing to leave even after three or four requests to leave, in-
cluding asking if these were direct orders.  Zuzga rightly felt 
challenged and threatened by such behavior.  These were the 
real reasons for the proper ejection of Tremper and for Trem-
per’s 5-day suspension.

Thus, I find that the General Counsel has not met the initial 
burden of showing that Respondent’s 5-day suspension of 
Tremper was motivated by his union activity, including any 
activity on Abbott’s behalf on February 3.  As indicated, there 
is no evidence of union or protected activity animus either from 
Zuzga or any other official of Respondent who was involved in 
approving the suspension.  There were no independent Section 
8(a)(1) violations, normal indicia of animus, either alleged or 
found. And Respondent itself has had a long history of a suc-
cessful bargaining relationship with the Union, including, as 
shown in this record, a policy of holding monthly grievance 
meetings with union representatives.  Finally, as I also have 
indicated above, there is no causal connection between alleged 
unlawful animus and the reason for the discipline.  In any 
event, even assuming that the General Counsel’s initial burden 
was met, based on my findings with respect to Tremper’s inter-
ference with Zuzga’s attempt to get important information from 
Abbott and his other efforts to disrupt the meeting, Respondent 
would have disciplined Tremper for these other non-
discriminatory reasons notwithstanding his alleged protected 
activity. This is reinforced by the fact that Zuzga’s recommen-
dation for discipline was carefully considered by a group of 
management officials before it was approved and implemented.  
I therefore dismiss the complaint allegation that Tremper’s 
suspension was violative of the Act.8

8 In his brief (GC Br. at p. 17, fn. 12) counsel for the General Coun-
sel asserts that the proper question to ask in analyzing this case is 
whether Tremper lost the protection of the Act by his improper conduct 
during protected activity.  It is acknowledged, however, that, under the 
present state of the law, Wright Line is the appropriate standard for 

Turning to Abbott’s suspension, which was basically for the 
rest of the shift on February 3, I also dismiss that allegation.  
For some of the same reasons mentioned above in the discus-
sion of the Tremper suspension, I do not see any unlawful ani-
mus or related causation in Zuzga’s ejection of Abbott from his 
office and the latter’s brief suspension, which amounted to 
probably less than 2 hours.  The decision to eject Abbott was 
based on Zuzga’s decision to end the meeting, which, in the 
circumstances, was perfectly justified.  The meeting had disin-
tegrated to meaningless and repeated sharp exchanges once 
Tremper and Abbott persisted in insisting that Zuzga place his 
lock on the machine, even after Zuzga had considered their 
position and rejected it.  Zuzga rightly ended the meeting at that 
point.  The suspension of Abbott for the rest of the day was 
probably unnecessary, given that the shift was almost over, but 
it was not unlawfully motivated.  In any event, Abbott was later 
paid for any lost time he suffered due to the suspension.  And 
he is no longer employed by Respondent.  Thus, even if the 
treatment of Abbott were viewed as technically unlawful, there 
is no reason, in these circumstances, to find a violation or cer-
tainly to remedy it.  The matter has been “substantially reme-
died” or rendered moot by “subsequent conduct.” See Dish 
Network Service Corp., 339 NLRB 1126, 1128 fn. 11 (2003).

The Verbal Warnings Issued to Tremper and Pruccoli

Much of Jamison’s story about the verbal warnings issued to 
Tremper and Pruccoli for improperly cleaning their parts of the 
slitter machine on February 26 sounds fishy.  It seems unusual 
for Jamison to have gone out of his way to take photographs of 
the alleged poor cleaning attributed to Tremper and Pruccoli.  
Despite Jamison’s testimony that he took pictures of other dere-
lictions of this type, we have only his word on this.  If indeed 
he had done so on other occasions there certainly would be 
evidence of such use of photographs, but here, of course, there 
was no such evidence submitted.  Nor was there any evidence 
submitted to corroborate Jamison’s testimony that he had is-
sued other disciplines in the past for improper cleanliness.  The 
mutually corroborative testimony of Tremper and Pruccoli that 
they knew of no such prior disciplinary actions is more reliable, 
especially because of their obvious knowledge of such discipli-
nary history, given their positions with the Union.  Then there 
is the anomalous testimony of Jamison that he was alerted to 

such cases.  See General Motors, LLC, 369 NLRB No. 127 (2020), 
which overturned the four-factor balancing test set forth in Atlantic 
Steel Co., 245 NLRB 814, 816 (1979) and substituted the Wright Line
test for those cases.  Counsel for General Counsel also points out that 
the General Counsel is seeking to have the Board overturn General 
Motors and return to the Atlantic Steel standard for such cases.  Should 
that happen, it is not clear to me that this case is one where, as in the 
past, Atlantic Steel would have applied.  The theory in that type of 
violation is that the alleged misconduct and the alleged protected activi-
ty are inseparable so that a balancing of competing rights is required.  
That is not the case here. Assuming, however, that Tremper and Abbott 
were engaging in protected activity in bringing a safety-related griev-
ance to the attention of management during the meeting with Zuzga in 
the latter’s office, that meeting ended when the grievance was denied.  
Tremper’s misconduct continued thereafter so he was not involved in 
protected activity when he engaged in the conduct for which he was 
disciplined.  In any event, even if I were to consider this case under the 
Atlantic Steel standard, I would find, for the reasons stated in my analy-
sis set forth above, that Tremper’s misconduct was sufficient to forfeit 
any Section 7 right he was allegedly asserting.  The result would there-
fore be the same—no violation.  See Piper Realty Co., 313 NLRB 1289 
(1994), a remarkably similar case out of this same region.
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the uncleanliness of the blades by a first shift employee, which 
seems to conflict with his testimony that he himself discovered 
that impropriety. Also unusual was that Jamison did not find 
that the third person who was working on the machine on that 
shift on that day failed to properly clean the machine or took a 
picture of that apparently clean workstation at least to provide a 
contrast to the alleged messiness of the rest of the machine.  I 
also find it unusual that neither Tremper nor Pruccoli was told 
of the failure to properly clean their parts of the machine until 
two weeks later.  One would think that, if the unsatisfactory 
cleaning was so important, the offending employees would be 
told immediately of their failings—and shown the pictures as 
well—so that the employees could be told in a timely manner 
how to improve and protect the machine from whatever prob-
lems the improper cleaning caused.  Instead, Tremper and 
Pruccoli continued to work on the machine for the next 2 weeks 
risking further cleaning problems to an important machine until 
they were told of their improprieties in formal warning notices. 
Finally, according to Human Resources Manager Walton, nei-
ther Tremper nor Pruccoli had any prior disciplines for “failure 
to work efficiently and/or competently on work assigned,” as 
set forth in Rule 6, which they allegedly violated in this case.  
In all the circumstances, I believe that the warnings issued to 
Tremper and Pruccoli were, at best, nit picking, and, at worse, 
arbitrary.

But here is the problem on this part of the case: As a matter 
of law, the General Counsel must prove, at least initially, that 
the motive for the verbal warnings issued to Tremper and Pruc-
coli was either union activity or filing of the unfair labor prac-
tice charge by Pruccoli on behalf of Tremper.  That has not 
been accomplished on this record.  Jamison may have been 
petty in his disciplines, but there is no evidence that he had a 
discriminatory motive in doing so—either because of union 
activity or the filing of an unfair labor practice charge.  He 
specifically denied even knowing about the filing of the charge 
when he made his decision to discipline the two employees on 
February 26.  And there is no evidence to contest or doubt that 
testimony.  Moreover, in this case at least, it appears that no 
other supervisory or management officials were involved in the 
decision to issue the disciplinary warnings.  And Jamison him-
self did not exhibit anything like anti-union animus.  Accord-
ingly, the General Counsel has failed to meet the initial burden 
of proving a violation and I must dismiss this aspect of the 
complaint.

Even though I have found no violations on this part of the 
case, based on my assessment of the situation as set forth 
above, including Jamison’s apparent admission that there may 
have been inconsistent enforcement by different supervisors of 
machine cleaning protocols, I recommend that the Respondent 
expunge the verbal warnings issued to Tremper and Pruccoli. It 
appears that Respondent does have a policy of expunging warn-
ings after the passage of a certain amount of time.  (See Tr. 
253.)  This situation seems an appropriate application of that 
policy.

CONCLUSION OF LAW

Respondent has not violated the Act by suspending employ-
ees Tremper and Abbott, or by issuing verbal warnings to em-
ployees Tremper and Pruccoli 

On these findings of fact and conclusion of law, and on the 

entire record, I issue the following recommended9

ORDER

The complaint herein is dismissed in its entirety.
Dated at Washington, D.C., November 2, 2021.

9 If no exceptions are filed, as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the 
Board’s Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and recom-
mended order shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be adopted 
by the Board and all objections to them shall be waived for all purpos-
es.


